
MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW COMMITTEE MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 13, 2023, AT 6:00 P.M. 

CITY OF ST. AUGUSTINE BEACH, 2200 AlA South, St. Augustine Beach, FL 32080 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

Dr. Dumont called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

The Committee recited the Pledge of Allegiance. 

111. ROLL CALL 

Present: Members Marc Craddock, Margaret England, Edward George, Jeremiah Mulligan, 
Heather Lane Neville, and Scott Patrou, and Alternates Doug Wiles and Margaret Van Ormer. 

Member Kevin Cavanaugh was absent. 

Also present: Facilitator Dr. Georgette Dumont, City Manager Max Royle, Building Official Brian 
Law, and City Clerk Dariana Fitzgerald. 

IV. INTRODUCTtONS AND RECAP OF PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Mr. Marc Craddock introduced himself. 

V. REVIEW OPEN TOPICS FROM MEETING 1 

Dr. Dumont recapped what was reviewed at the last meeting. 

a. Memo From Staff 

Dr. Dumont advised that staff provided a memo answering questions from the last meeting. Mr. 
Mulligan asked when the City would ever have $18,333 set aside in its budget for a special 
election. City Manager Royle advised that it would need to come from reserves. Mr. George asked 
how much money was in reserves right now. City Manager Royle stated that it was more than 
$18,000. 

b. Section 1-4(() & (D) - Commission Vacancies 

Dr. Dumont noted the change in red to add the verbiage: "or sworn into office" to the last 
sentence of Section 1-4(c), which would clear up a loophole because not everyone in office is 
elected. 

It was the consensus of the Committee to agree to the change. 

Dr. Dumont advised that the change to Section 1-4(d) is to remove the words "shall be" and 
replace it with "are". She said this Section pertained to having a special election to fill a vacancy, 
which was an item the Committee asked for more information on. Mr. Mulligan said that the City 

1 



of St. Augustine's Charter, Section 6.05 regarding primary and general elections said that a tie 
vote shall be decided by lot to be conducted by the City Attorney, City Manager, and City Clerk. 
He suggested that the City's Charter should use that same verbiage instead of having a special 
election. Dr. Dumont asked for any discussion or consensus on his suggestion. Mr. George said 
that that is what City Manager Royle had suggested at the last meeting. Ms. Neville said that she 
would be okay with that change, but when we get to the City Clerk section, that she would not 
want someone appointed by the City Manager because it might muddy the water since they are 
currently in a staff tevel position. Dr. Dumont said that it would be by lot, so someone selects it, 
and it would be chosen at random. Mr. George read the suggestion from the City Manager's 
memo to consider proposing a Charter amendment: that if the Commission, within sixty calendar 
days of the vacancy, has not appointed an interim Commissioner, then the selection of the interim 
Commissioner will be decided by chance by drawing the name of an applicant from a box or hat 
and the drawing can be done by the City Attorney. Dr. Dumont asked Mr. Mulligan if that aligned 
close enough with the City of St. Augustine's. Mr. Mulligan said yes. Mr. Craddock asked if sixty 
days was enough time. Mr. George said that this was sixty days from when they could not agree 
on an interim Commissioner so there would be plenty of time before that. Dr. Dumont asked if 
there was a consensus to make the change from a special election to doing it by lot/chance. 

It was the consensus of the Committee to make the changes as stated above. 

c. Section 1-5 Legislative Body- Reorganization/Clarifying Language 

Dr. Dumont said that she cleaned this section up and cut the second sentence regarding 
emergency meetings from Section 1.S(a) and pasted it to a new Section 1.S(e). She said in Section 
1.S(d) there were questions about how an emergency ordinance differs from an emergency 
meeting, so for clarity, she added, "Time sensitive ordinances will be deemed ...". Mr. Wiles said 
that Dr. Dumont did a good job and that the issue is whether the Mayor and Vice Mayor could be 
self-serving by calling an emergency meeting. He said that there is an affirmative action by the 
balance of the board to be in agreement that it is an emergency meeting. Dr. Dumont said that 
this is not for an emergency meeting, it is for an emergency ordinance, and it is something that 
would come to the board at a regular meeting that was not deemed as something that needed to 
be voted on at the time that the agenda was drafted. Ms. Neville asked if Section 1.S(c) conflicted 
with the paragraph above it and not after. Dr. Dumont advised that emergency meetings did not 
belong in Section 1.S(a), which is for regular meetings. Ms. Neville said that it also flip flopped 
from three members to four-fifths affirmative, so you probably already took care of it. 

Mr. Wiles asked for a definition of "time sensitive ordinances" and if this would be ordinances 
that are not priorly advertised. Dr. Dumont said right, and that it would have to be deemed an 
emergency but there is no language as to who would deem it an emergency and that it needs to 
be voted on at the Commission meeting. City Clerk Fitzgerald advised that in this case it would be 
something that the City needed to pass right away in one meeting due to its urgency. She said 
that typically ordinances need two or three readings that a re advertised in order to pass. She gave 
the example that in 2018, there was a Supreme Court decision that invalidated a tot of 
municipalities' sign ordinances and the City got on it very quickly to make the appropriate changes 
to the ordinances, but other cities that did not make the change early had to pass emergency 
ordinances in one meeting, which bypassed the normal notification and multiple reading process. 
Mr. Wiles asked if there is a better way to describe time sensitive ordinances and to clearly define 
it. Dr. Dumont said that she would think about how to rephrase it. Ms. Neville said that there was 
nothing to deem it time sensitive and maybe it could be selected to be an emergency by way of 
the action, and you would need to have a vote to select it as an emergency and being time 
sensitive has to be elected by a vote by whoever is present plus one for a majority. She said that 
the elected officials could deem it as time sensitive and you would not need to define time 

2 



sensitive. Dr. Dumont said that the vote that Ms. Neville is talking about is to actually have an 
emergency meeting. Ms. Neville said that Dr. Dumont mentioned that there was nothing in there 
to deem it as time sensitive so maybe just having those present elected officials deem it as time 
sensitive instead of trying to define it might be a better way because it would be hard to do for 
every instance. 

City Clerk Fitzgerald advised that Florida Statute 166.041 defines emergency ordinances as 
anything that bypasses Paragraph (a), which specifies at least two readings on two separate days 
at least ten days prior to adoption. Mr. Wiles suggested that maybe that is what we should use. 
Dr. Dumont suggested to add to Section 1.5(d), "Time sensitive ordinance as defined in the State 
Statute." Mr. Wiles agreed and said that he believed that it protects the general public from one 
or more Commissioners doing something that might be questionable. He said that public noticing 
them twice and reading them twice is the beauty of Florida's Government in Sunshine Law. Dr. 
Dumont asked if the Committee was in agreement with 1.S(d) to read: "Time sensitive ordinances 
as defined in State Statute will be deemed ..." 

It was the consensus of the Committee to make the change as stated above. 

Dr. Dumont read new Section 1.S(e) regarding emergency meetings and said that you need to 
have the majority plus one to affirm that it is an emergency meeting and whatever they are trying 
to pass would require two-thirds of a quorum affirmative vote. Mr. Patrou said that he reads it 
differently and to him the two-thirds part meant that you could take other actions than 
adjournment for things that are not voting on an ordinance, but it would still remain the four­
fifths for ordinances. Dr. Dumont advised that they are two different things. One is the ordinance, 
and this is for whatever is going to be discussed in the meeting, which might be an ordinance, or 
it could be something else. Mr. Wiles said that if there is a time sensitive ordina nee as defined by 
State Statute, it would be brought up during an emergency meeting that still requires a four-fifths 
affirmative vote. Dr. Dumont said that she could not think of a situation where you would need 
to have an emergency meeting for an emergency ordinance because an emergency ordinance 
would take place at a regular meeting that was noticed and is on the agenda. Ms. England said 
that it could be at an emergency meeting, but it does not have to be. City Clerk Fitzgerald said 
that an ordinance is essentially a law change and would not necessarily need an emergency 
meeting unless it was something extreme. Dr. Dumont asked if there was a consensus on Section 
1.S(e) and she noted that the old Section 1.S(e) is now Section 1.S(f). 

It was the consensus of the Committee to make the noted changes to Section 1.5(e) and to move 
the old Section 1.5{e) to Section 1.5(f). 

Dr. Dumont advised that we did not have a consensus at the last meeting regarding Section 1.2 
for the boundaries of the City. 

It was the consensus of the Committee to agree with Section 1.2. 

VI. MEETING 2 TOPICS: 

a. City Manager (Sec.1.8) 

Dr. Dumont advised that when we are looking at City Charters, there are non-negotiables because 
you have a lot of positions that are contracted. She read Section 1.8 and said that usually when a 
city manager is hired, there would be a national search asking for key qualifications. Mr. George 
said that it was debated back and forth whether the Police Chief needed to live in the City and 
whether it was even possible with such a small City, which is something that the Commission can 
decide on. Dr. Dumont said that this Section specifies that the City Manager should live in the City 
or that the Commission could waive it. 

3 



Dr. Dumont read the second sentence of Section 1.8 regarding removal of the City Manager by 
four-fifths vote and that it would stay in there until the current City Manager is no longer with the 
City. She recommended that it should be removed in the next ten, twenty, thirty or forty years 
from now. Mr. George said that he has been watching the recent Commission meetings and that 
it was the will of the Commission that it should be changed back to what it was originally ten years 
ago to be a sim pie majority. Dr. Dumont said that that is what it is. She said that after City Manager 
Royle leaves, all subsequent City Managers shall be appointed or removed by a majority vote of 
the full City Commission. She read the remaining sentences from Section 1.8 on page 7 of her 
presentation [Exhibit A-7]. She advised that the Commission could remove future City Managers 
with a simple majority vote and that the City Manager could then request a hearing. She said that 
the reason for the removal does not matter and that some cities have it in their Charter while 
other cities keep the City Manager specifics in their contract. She said that there is no distinction 
in the Charter for removal with or without cause and it is up to the Committee whether it is 
important to add or to leave it with the contract. 

Ms. Neville asked to discuss it further because it was worded strangely. She asked why we are not 
putting a term on the contact with an option to renew. Dr. Dumont advised that there is no 
contract right now and that this was just saying that the City would enter into a contract with a 
new City Manager and that the terms, the salary, etc., would be determined in the contract. Ms. 
Neville said that if no one else wanted to talk about it, that she would not talk about it either. She 
said that it is strange not to have a contract in place and that it goes back to our discussion about 
terms for elected officials, it allows for having something that says a contract, and you could 
renew contracts all the time. It allows for more open discussions and to have a contract review 
after the first year because performance is talked about for staff but not for the City Manager. 
She said that any organization with a board that she has been a part of would constantly assess 
performance. The City Manager is at the will of the Commissioners who are at the will of the 
community, and if we are going to talk about the elected officials, and giving people an 
opportunity, that it not be so combative. She has personally watched what has occurred in the 
City and it is embarrassing as a resident and a lot of it could have been avoided if there were 
contracts because you can do a review and set expectations. She has also seen some ugly things 
happen at the County and the City of St. Augustine. She said that she believed that we are afraid 
to talk about it because the City Manager is in the room, but this has nothing to do with him 
personally, it is for all Commission appointed positions, which she thinks should include the City 
Clerk. It would allow for open discussions about expectations and would allow people to have 
better guidance for what those expectations are and hold each other accountable. It has been her 
experience that if you set expectations, that people will meet those expectations, or they decide 
that they are not interested anymore. She advised that she has had conversations with several 
officials, staff, and residents, and there seemed to be a consensus about those kinds of measures 
and not just in the terms of the contract, which probably could be left up to the Commissioners. 
Mr. George said that he believed that the Commission is working on a contract right now. Ms. 
Neville said that this is for going forward and that she has watched some unfortunate things roll 
out, which could be in part from lack of structured things to answer to and could lead to hearsay, 
accusations, etc. If we had some kind of structure, there would be something to look forward to, 
and if someone is doing a great job, then you have nothing to worry about. 

Dr. Dumont said that she is hearing that Ms. Neville would like to add that an annual performance 
evaluation be done by the Commission. Ms. Neville said that there should be a contract with a 
term and a review a year out from the end of that term. Ms. England said that it was a good point 
because there is something in Section 1.8 stating that the City Manager is appointed for an 
"indefinite term", which causes a problem because you are trying to do a contract on the side, 

4 



and she believed that the Commission wanted to move forward with all City Managers to be hired 
under a contract, which could be negotiated. She suggested to remove the verbiage from the first 
paragraph, third sentence, of Section 1.8 "...for an indefinite term,..." because it could be in 
conflict of what the Commission wants. She also suggested to add "The City Manager will be hired 
under a contract, which will be negotiated." 

Mr. Wiles asked if there was a generally accepted standard across cities for city manager 
contracts. Dr. Dumont advised that they are done by contract and hired by the elected body, 
which is what the Commission wants but you also want to be able to attract a city manager. Mr. 
Wiles said that this is a small City, and our salary may not be competitive with others in the area 
and if we pile on requirements, it may make it more difficult to hire a good city manager down 
the road with a three- or five-year contract where other cities do not have an expiration date. He 
said that it would certainly be appropriate to review the performance of the City Manager. Ms. 
Neville suggested to add a note in the Charter that there is a contract so it would take away the 
"indefinite term" verbiage. Mr. Wiles suggested to see what else is out there and that he did not 
have an issue putting a time limit in a contract, but it could restrain the Commission in the future, 
which could harm the search for a new city manager. Ms. England said that contracts are 
negotiable, and personnel policies can be changed by the Commission and those policies will 
normally have the requirement of an annual review. Mr. Wiles advised that it is in the Charter 
that the City Manager or a designee has to do a review of employees. Ms. Neville suggested to 
add that there is a contract with a review at a certain point to alleviate any confusion of what the 
performance measures are. 

Ms. England advised that this is the Charter, and it should not be too specific. She said that the 
Commission has been through several performance reviews, which is in the Personnel Manual. 
Ms. Neville asked if it was for the City Manager. Ms. England said yes and that the only two people 
that the Commission currently reviews are the Police Chief and the City Manager. She said that 
the Commissioners worked on the format for the reviews and set the primary goals, but it should 
not be specific in the City Charter. Ms. Neville said that she was not suggesting that at all. 

Dr. Dumont advised that she would make the second sentence a new paragraph. Ms. Neville said 
that it is strange that it says, "The current city manager". Dr. Dumont advised that it needed to be 
like that while the current City Manager is still here because that is his legal safeguard with the 
four-fifths vs. the simple majority, which would go into effect with the next City Manager. Dr. 
Dumont suggested to change the verbiage, "...foran indefinite term" to, "...fora term agreed upon 
in the negotiated contract between the incoming city manager and the Commission". Ms. Neville 
asked if the City Manager could be removed without a super majority. Dr. Dumont said only after 
City Manager Royle. Ms. Neville said that the City would be better off getting contracts and that 
she liked super majorities when it comes to removing top tier leadership. She said that it is weird 
that we are going from "indefinite" to a three-two vote, which is not hard to do. Mr. George said 
that it was three-two since 1959 up until ten years ago but it could go the other way too because 
with a super majority, it would be very difficult to get rid of someone, so there are arguments 
either way. Dr. Dumont said that would be where "with" or "without" cause would matter. For 
example, if three new people got elected and they campaigned about how horrible the City is 
being run, they could then remove someone "without cause", which would give added benefits 
to the City Manager, whereas "with cause" does not have those added benefits. Mr. Patrou said 
we definitely do not want any of that in the Charter and he would rather the Commission have 
the authority to do what they need to do and that he would not support getting rid of the 
"indefinite term" because the term should be defined in a contract. Ms. Neville said indefinite 
would mean indefinite so why would we not put contract terms. Mr. Patrou said that it is only for 
the appointment itself and indefinite just means that if they can not come to an agreement, then 

5 



they could get someone else. Dr. Dumont said yes, or until three of them decide that it is not 
indefinite anymore. 

Dr. Dumont suggested to add to the end of the second sentence, " ... fora term agreed to in a 
negotiated contract between the incoming city manager and the commission." Ms. England said 
that it seemed like a conflict if you say that the City Manager shall be appointed or removed by a 
majority vote for an indefinite term, which might be setting up a conflict with what a Commission 
might want to set as a term. Mr. Craddock asked what the definition of an indefinite term is. Mr. 
Mulligan said "for an unknown or unstated length of time". Mr. Craddock said that he liked what 
was suggested, that it would be negotiated and defined in a contract. Ms. England said right. Dr. 
Dumont suggested to remove "indefinite term" and replace it with, 'Jor a term agreed to." Mr. 
Patrou said that he would leave "indefinite term" because the next part of the sentence clarifies 
it. Dr. Dumont said that Ms. Neville was concerned about not having reference to a contract in 
the Charter. Mr. Patrou said that that might be a separate issue and maybe we could put 
something else in the Charter that says that we should have a contract with the City Manager and 
let the terms be defined within that agreement. Mr. Wifes said that we may be in search of a 
problem that does not exist and that he was fine with putting a contract in the Charter, just 
suggested that it be cleaned up a bit. 

Mr. Mulligan said that any person that is interested in being the City Manager would look at a 
contract and want to talk about "cause" because they do not want to be terminated without cause 
and they would want some protection, which should be built into their contract. Mr. Craddock 
asked if we should revisit the super majority vs. four-fifths because it is in there for the next City 
Manager. Mr. Patrou said that any competent city manager coming in would demand a contract. 
Mr. Wiles said that he believed that the County Manager that had been there for a while was 
removed by a majority vote by the County Commission. Mr. Mulligan said that he had a golden 
parachute in his contract that compensated him. Mr. George said that the average tenure for city 
managers in Florida is three years. Dr. Dumont said that when the Commission turns over, they 
usually get rid of them, and they are known as "gypsies" because they are at their political whim. 

Mr. Mulligan said that he did not see any reason to change any ofthis. Mr. George said that if the 
City Manager has a contract for ten years and a new commission fires him, then the City has to 
pay them, which gets expensive. Dr. Dumont said yes but only if it was done without cause. 

Dr. Dumont asked if the Committee wanted to keep all of it in including the "indefinite term". Ms. 
England said that she did not want to keep the "indefinite term" and we may need to have a vote 
on it because it seemed like a complete conflict to her for a Charter to state that the City Manager 
is appointed for an indefinite term and then turn around and negotiate a contract for a specific 
term. Mr. Patrou said that it just means that it is unstated, and the Charter is not going to define 
the terms and would allow it to be contractual. Mr. Mulligan said that this is a good sampling of 
people because that word creates enough confusion, and in the interest of simplification, it is easy 
to remove that to bring clarity. 

Dr. Dumont suggested 'jar a term agreed to in the negotiated contract between the incoming city 
manager and the commission". Ms. Neville suggested cleaning it up farther by removing the 
duplicate reference of "removal by majority vote". Dr. Dumont said that after the first sentence 
where it gets into the removal of the City Manager, she would put that into the second paragraph, 
and the first paragraph is where she would add that there would be a contract. 

Dr. Dumont asked the Committee how they felt about putting the evaluation of the City Manager 
in the Charter. Mr. George said that he agreed with Mr. Mulligan to keep it the way it is because 
we are taking it out of context when you look at "indefinite term" because you have to read the 
whole thing and we could debate it all night long. Mr. Mulligan said that he did not see any reason 

6 



to change it but that the change would not be offensive and would not create a big problem other 
than having to present it to the electors. Ms. Neville said that it is pretty standard for attracting 
talent and that city managers are accustomed to having contracts. Mr. Mulligan said that he would 
be offended if they did not ask for a contract. 

Dr. Dumont asked for a vote on the "indefinite term". Mr. George asked if it was to replace it with 
the verbiage that you stated. Dr. Dumont said yes. Ms. Neville asked if it was "yes" to replacement. 

It was the consensus of the Committee to replace the verbiage "indefinite term" with Dr. 
Dumont's previously suggested verbiage. 

Dr. Dumont said that there was also the suggestion to remove, "may be removed by a majority 
vote", which appears twice. Ms. England suggested to end the third sentence after "...a majority 
vote of the full city commission" and to remove the rest of that sentence to make it simple. Dr. 
Dumont said that she would add the contract information after the first sentence, which is the 
logical place to add it. Ms. England suggested to start a new paragraph about the removal of the 
City Manager. Dr. Dumont asked if she wanted to start a new paragraph at the second sentence, 
which is where it starts to get into the removal process. 

Ms. Neville said that if there is a contract in place, and we do not put it in the Charter that there 
needs to be a review, then how do we protect that person. Mr. Mulligan said that the person 
protects themselves with their contract. Ms. Neville said that the elected officials would only need 
a three-two vote. Mr. George said that it would be part of the contract and the Commission would 
negotiate it with the applicant. Dr. Dumont said that an annual review with a full contract 
renegotiation, a salary increase, etc. would all be in the contract. Ms. Neville said that she 
understands the flip side because a super majority makes it hard, but having a three-two vote ... 
Dr. Dumont said that when she was on a council of seven members, she pushed to have a super 
majority to remove the City Manager. 

Mr. Patrou asked if we are setting ourselves up for the full commission because if we are short 
one Commissioner and we are trying to appoint someone by drawing lots and having special 
meetings. Mr. Mulligan said that we are looking for more problems and that he reads this as the 
majority vote of the full City Commission has to be three people because the whole com mission 
is five. Dr. Dumont said that in the Charter, if it is just the majority of the quorum, it is stated as 
such. 

Dr. Dumont recapped the changes and said that the first paragraph will be regarding the City 
Manager contract and the second paragraph will be regarding the removal of the City Manager 
and she asked if they wanted to also end the third sentence after "appointed or removed by a 
majority vote of the full city commission." and removed the reset of the sentence. 

Mr. Craddock asked if the forth sentence, which ends with, "no vested rights in his or her office 
other than those specifically provided in this Charter or by contract.", means that it would be 
possible that the City Manager could have a contract with more rights than what is in the Charter 
and would that be a conflict. Mr. Mulligan advised that the City Manager could not vest 
themselves in something that would contradict the Charter such as asking for a super majority to 
be fired, but if the Charter stated three-fifths, the three-fifths would win because the Charter 
would take precedence over the contract, but the contract would have everything else the City 
Manager wants for their protection. 

Dr. Dumont asked if everyone agreed with the changes. 

It was the consensus of the Committee to agree with Dr. Dumont's above-stated changes. 

7 



Dr. Dumont moved on to the next part of Section 1.8 regarding the City Manager's residency 
within the City. 

It was the consensus of the Committee for it to remain as is. 

Dr. Dumont moved on to the next part of Section 1.8(1) regarding the City Manager being the 
chief executive officer, which are things that the City Manager must do by the Charter and are 
non-negotiable. 

It was the consensus of the Committee for it to remain as is. 

Dr. Dumont moved on to the next part of Section 1.8(2), (3), (4). Ms. Neville questioned Section 
1.8(4), which states that the City Manager shall attend all City Commission meetings, which she 
said was weird and very rigid. Dr. Dumont advised that is the City Manager's job to be at all City 
Commission meetings because the City Manager is the one that put forth the majority of the 
information for discussion. She said that it is standard language and if the City Manager is sick, 

then their assistant would fill in. 

It was the consensus of the Committee for it to remain as is. 

Dr. Dumont moved on to the next part of Section 1.8(5-17). Ms. Neville said that in some cities 
she has seen where they countersign at the will of the commission, and she questioned if Sestion 
1.8(10 and 11) gives the City Manager the ability to sign all of them or is there a certain threshold. 
Dr. Dumont advised that it is to countersign, which is usually the Mayor and the City Manager. 

It was the consensus of the Committee for all of Sections 1.8(5-17) to remain unchanged. 

Ms. Neville advised that she had three things to discuss. She said that the first item might be 
covered under Section 1.8(16), dealing with communication and public engagement. She also 
suggested having language in the Charter about maintaining a succession plan for all positions 
and to move people up the chain. She said that some Charters have thresholds where the City 
Manager can have some control over contracts for a certain budget amount. Dr. Dumont advised 
that dollar amounts should be put in policy not in the Charter, which is standard procedure. Ms. 
England asked the City Clerk if there was already something in the City's policies. City Clerk 
Fitzgerald advised that the Financial Policies Manuals contain all of that and have multiple levels 
for Department Heads, the City Manager/Police Chief, etc., as well as for regular staff members 
to be able to go to Home Depot or other stores to buy necessities. Dr. Dumont advised that she 
has also seen where larger expenditures could be made if they are an emergency, which would 
be approved afterwards by the Commission. City Clerk Fitzgerald advised that the City follows the 
advice of the Florida Government Finance Officers Association (FGFOA), which is to have a 
separate Financial Policies Manual that is approved by the Commission and updated periodically. 
She advised that the City can only update the Charter every ten years, but expenses and cost-of­
living increase annually. Ms. Neville said that contract authority lives in the Charter, and she did 
not know if the Code had contract writing authority in it. 

Dr. Dumont said that "public involvement"; and "communication" could be added at the end of 
Section 1.8(16). She said that the succession plan for the City Manager is done by the Commission 
and thatthis would be succession planning for the City Departments. Mr. Wiles asked if that would 
generally fall under the administration department. Dr. Dumont said yes. Ms. Neville asked if the 
City had a succession plan. City Manager Royle said yes. Ms. Neville said okay. 

Dr. Dumont moved on to the first paragraph in the next part of Section 1.8. and said that it 
basically means that the Commissioners cannot get their families hired. She read the second 
paragraph in that Section, which discusses that a letter be on file with the City Clerk designating 
an "Acting City Manager". Mr. Wiles asked if it was a standard letter on file or is it done when the 

8 



City Manager becomes disabled. City Clerk Fitzgerald advised that it is standard, and is done by 
email these days. 

It was the consensus of the Committee for it to remain as is. 

b. Law Enforcement (Sec. 1-9) 

Dr. Dumont advised that when she highlights something in her presentation it is because there 
had been questions about it and that law enforcement was a hot topic for the Charter ten years 
ago. She said that she highlighted the verbiage in the first sentence because it is no longer the 
practice and that the City Commission only hires the Police Chief. She suggested to remove, "..., 
and there may be such police officers as may from time to time be determined by the city 
commission to be necessary." 

It was the consensus of the Committee to remove the suggested verbiage from the first 
paragraph as stated above by Dr. Dumont. 

Dr. Dumont moved on to the next part of Section 1.9, which she said was similar to what was in 
Section 1.8. for the City Manager except the Police Chief has no contract. Ms. Nevile said that it 
should mirror a lot of the language that we adopt for Section 1.8 for the City Manager because 
they are parallel in stature. She said that there are some things in this Section that do not add up 
because you need to have a four-fifths vote to remove the Police Chief and she would like for it 
to reflect the same as the City Manager with a contract and the language that we already 
discussed. Dr. Dumont asked for any comments. Mr. Wiles said that most, if not all, police chiefs 
serve at the pleasure of the Commission, and he did not know if law enforcement has the same 
contractual authority. He believed that the reason for the four-fifths vote in this Section was 
because there is no contract, and the protection would be a super majority vote to remove the 
Chief, which he believed was similar to the City of St. Augustine's. Dr. Dumont asked if everyone 
was good with it. Ms. Neville said that there is some repetitive language again. 

Dr. Dumont moved on to the next part of Section 1.9 and said that she highlighted the word "He" 
because it should be gender neutral language and she suggested changing it to "The chief". 

It was the consensus of the Committee to make the change as stated above by Dr. Dumont. 

Mr. Mulligan asked to go back to the previous paragraph, and he questioned what would happen 
if the Chief did something horrific or was arrested. Mr. George said that if he does not get removed 
by four-fifths vote, then those people should be voted out the next time. Mr. Craddock said that 
he was concerned about paying the Chief for sixty days. Mr. Wiles suggested to word it "unless 
terminated for cause." Dr. Dumont suggested to add at the end of the second sentence, "unless 
removed due to malfeasance." Mr. Mulligan suggested to think about the language because it 
needed to be more than just malfeasance. Dr. Dumont advised that she would work on the 
language. Mr. Wiles said that there had to be a city that removed their chief for something like 
that. 

Dr. Dumont moved on and read the last sentence in Section 1.9. 

It was the consensus of the Committee for the last sentence to remain the same. 

c. Public Improvements (Sec. 1-10) 

Dr. Dumont suggested to remove the verbiage "does hereby find and determine" as shown with a 
strike-through. She read the rest of the paragraph and said that it pertained to the City not 
preventing the County from constructing, repairing, or maintaining the roads that go out to the 
beach. Mr. Mulligan said that there was an incident a few years ago where a resident did some 
inappropriate work on a dune, and it was questioned who had the authority to prevent them from 

9 



doing it. He asked if it would be appropriate to put something in the Charter to restrict that type 
of thing. Building Official Law advised that the issue is addressed in the Land Development Code 
and the Comprehensive Plan. He said that the reason that instance happened was because it was 
held up for about a year and a half in permitting and he utilized the Florida Building Code, which 
required an expert statement from a professional engineer. A full hydrology analysis was done 
along with a wave run up and he asked them to increase it to the analysis from the CCCL 
monuments, and that he had no choice but to approve it after a year and a half based on the 
opinion of the City Attorney at that time. He said that since then, the Codes have been changed 
and there is no way that we would ever modify a dune again. He said that in his opinion specific 
Codes should not be in the Charter. He said that there never used to be a Code, but now the 
Zoning Department could never say that a naturally occurring dune could be modified. He said 
that an applicant could appeal the decision to the Planning and Zoning Board, then to the 
Commission, and then to the court system. Mr. Craddock said that he appreciated the idea that 
we do not want to put Codes in the Charter, but he would like the Charter to reflect environmental 
protection. Building Official Law suggested possibly putting something about the City maintaining 
its naturally occurring dune system but to stay away from Codes. Dr. Dumont advised that there 
is a place for it in the January meeting schedule. 

It was the consensus of the Committee to remove the verbiage that Dr. Dumont suggested 
above. 

d. Fire Protection, Trash and Garbage Removal, and Other Municipal Services (Sec. 1-11) 

Dr. Dumont read Section 1.11(a & b). Mr. Patrou asked if there was a standard for determining 
whether a city has a fire department vs. a police department. Dr. Dumont advised that they shouId 
look at what the citizens are willing to pay for and the insurance rates, because if there is no fire 
department within a certain number of houses, then your insurance rates go up. She said that it 
would be up to the City whether it is done in-house or contacted. Mr. Geoge said that there was 
a volunteer fire department at one time and then they made the decision to have it through the 
County. Dr. Dumont advised that this Section is just stating that the City has the right to have its 
own fire department. Mr. Patrou said that his concern was for cost with the County vs. 
implementing our own, and the same for the Police Department because every time he sees a 
Beach police officer responding, there is a County police officer as well and there might be a lot 
of potential savings. He said that this has us rigged so that we have to have a police department 
but not a fire department and he questioned whether we should create the same provision. Ms. 
Neville suggested adding subsection (c}, which could relate to law enforcement, and we would 
also have to specify something for subsection (a) to allow the City Manager to hire a fire chief so 
there is an inconsistency there. Dr. Dumont advised that if the City started a fire department, the 
City Manager would have to present a proposed budget to the Commission, and it would then be 
up to the City Manager to hire a fire chief. She advised that this does not provide an option to get 
rid of the City's Police Department. Ms. Neville pointed out that it is an inconsistency and that she 
believed that the City had a couple of other municipal services that may belong in the Charter. 
Mr. George advised that the police department was debated by the full Commission over-and­
over again and that the minutes covered everything that they are talking about. Mr. Mulligan said 
that he believed that it would be a referendum of all the voters but that he personally hates the 
idea of getting rid of the police department because he has seen it happen and the municipality 
usually suffers. Mr. George said those were the same arguments made at those Commission 
meetings. 

Dr. Dumont read Section 1.11(b) and said that it covers all the other City services. Ms. Neville said 
that there is always a big discussion about City assets and whether they are City or County, and 

10 



she did not know if it belonged in here. Dr. Dumont said that it would be a topic at the January 
meeting. 

It was the consensus of the Committee to keep Section 1.11 as is. 

e. Validation of Individual Sections (Sec. 1-12) 

Dr. Dumont said that if one piece of the City Charter is no longer viable, then that one Section 
would be removed and everything else would remain the same such as ifthe State makes a change 
and the Charter goes against that change, then it would be removed. 

f . City Clerk (Sec. 1-13) 

Mr. Wiles said that it seemed odd that we are jumping back and talking about personnel, and he 
suggested that the City Attorney should be moved under the City Manager. Dr. Dumont agreed 
and said so should the Police Chief. Mr. George agreed. Ms. Neville suggested that the City Clerk 
should be a contracted position and she said that it is interesting that the City Manager appoints 
the position because it is typically appointed by the Commission. She said that it has been her 
experience that city clerks that have the ability to communicate with the Commissioners directly 
are able to work a little bit easier with that direct relationship. 

City Clerk Fitzgerald advised that general practice is for a city clerk to answer to an intermediary 
such as a city manager because when you have a clerk directly under a Commission, it could 
become an inappropriate gray area, which could put the clerk in an awkward position. She said 
that an intermediary could filter those directives to make sure that they are appropriate. 

It was the consensus of the Committee to leave Section 1.13 as is. 

g. City Attorney (Sec. 1-14) 

Dr. Dumont pointed out that the highlighted portion was because it was done the same way that 
the City Manager's Section was, and it was done for acity attorney that is no longer with the City. 
She suggested removing the second and third highlighted sentences in Section 1.14., which state, 
"The current city attorney at the time of adoption of this amendment may only be removed by a 
four-fifths vote of the full city commission. Upon the retirement, resignation, or removal of the 
current city attorney, all subsequent city attorneys shall be appointed or removed by a majority 
vote." Ms. Neville asked if this was an "indefinite" appointment. She said that she has been to 
meetings with no attorney present, and there is no mention of attendance in the Charter, which 
may be in the contract. Mr. Mulligan said that it is in the contract and if he remembers correctly 
the contract did not have a term either, but it had a termination provision. Dr. Dumont asked if 
she wanted language about a contract in the Charter. Ms. Neville said that there is no mention of 
a timeline or a contract. Dr. Dumont asked if everyone agreed to add the contract language. Ms. 
Neville said that it could have a timeframe since it is a contracted position because they would 
need to go through a qualifications process, which would have definite terms for their services. 
Mr. Mulligan advised that it would be in the contract. Dr. Dumont asked if the Committee 
approved removing the highlighted sentences from Section 1.14 and keeping the reaming portion 
as is. 

It was the consensus of the Committee to remove the highlighted portion as referenced by Dr. 
Dumont and to keep the rest as is. 

VII. REVIEW FINDINGS/LIST OF QUESTIONS FOR MEETING 3 

Dr. Dumont advised that she would work on the language and would present it with the same 
strike-through format at the next meeting on January 10, 2024. 

11 



VIII. NEXT M EETING: JANUARY 10, SECTIONS 1-16 THROUGH SECTION 2-7. TOPICS: 

a. Commission Limitations 

b. Election Procedures 

c. Absentee Ballots 

d. Commission Offices, Groups, and Terms 

e. Runoff Elections 

f. Determining Winners; Tie Votes 

g. Form of Ballot 

h. Recall of Elected Officials 

IX. ADJOURNMENT 

Dr. Dumont asked for a motion to adjourn. 

Motion: to adjourn. Moved by Member Mulligan, Seconded by Member Wiles. Motion passed 
unanimously. 

Dr. Dumont adjourned the meeting at 1,so p.m. ~ ~ 

Max Royle, City Manager 

Dariana Fitzgerald--< 

/ 

12 



-

1 

12/13/2023 

St. Augustine Beach 
DECEMBER 13 , 2023 

Charter Review 

Exhibit R- I 

Date ...!..1 ~2- _r 3_-_Z_c)_Z.3 

2 

1 



3 

12/13/2023 

Public Input 

• General Comments - beginning of meeting, 3 minutes 

• Article-specific comments - immediately preceding commission discussion -

3 minutes 

• Note: 

- This is not a conversation; this affords the public to comment on the decision-making 

process 

- Explicit questions will not be answered, but commission members may answer them in 

their discussion 

Public Input 

• Any concerns, comments, questions? 

Exhibit A- 2-

0ate l Z- /3~2o2,3 

4 

2 



12/13/2023 

The Review, continued 

5 

Review Open Topics from Meeting 1 

• Memo from staff 

• Questions/Discussion 

6 5Exhibit /)+ -

Date (Z-/3-?o'?) 

3 



7 

12/13/2023 

Section 1.4 Elective Officers 

(c) The city commissioners shall have been residents and qualified electors of 

the City of St. Augustine Beach for a period of one (1) year prior to the date of 

qualification for election, or appointment to fill a vacancy on the city 

commission as a result of the death, resignation or disqualification of a city 

commissioner. Once elected or sworn into office, city commissioners must 

maintain physical residency and voter registration in the city throughout their 

terms of office. 

Section 1.4 Elective Officers 

(d) In the event of the death, resignation or disqualification of a city 

commissioner, a successor shall be elected by a majority of remaining 

members of the city commission within 60 days after said vacancy occurs, to 

serve until the next general election, at which time the electors of the city shall 

elect a commissioner to serve for the remainder of the unexpired term. In the 

event that a majority of the remaining members of the commission sl ,all be are 

unable to elect a successor, a special election wil l be held to fill the vacancy. 

Exhibit _A_-_L_(_ 

Date I c,- I 3 - ~s 

8 

4 



12/13/2023 

Section 1.5 Legislative Body 

(a) The city commission shall meet at such times as may be prescribed by 

ordinance, resolution, or as otherwise permitted by Florida Law. Emergen-ey 

,,,eetings of Said commission ,nay be called upoI, reaso11able notice to each 

n ,eI, ,ber of ti 1e con 11 ,,1ssio1 ,, aI ,d sud, 11 ,eetil ,gs sl ,all be called by the 1Ttayor. 

The commission shall determine its own rules and order of business and shall 

keep minutes of its proceedings. 

9 

Section 1.5 Legislative Body 

(b) The affirmative vote of at least three (3) members of the city commission 

sha II be required for the passage of any motion of the city commission as such. 

(c) The compensation, if any, ofthe city commissioners and mayor shall be set 

by the city commission by ordinance. 

(d) Time sensitive ordinances will be deemed t .§.mergency ordinances, and 

shall be passed only upon a four-fifths affirmative vote of the city commission 

as a whole. 

10 
Exhibit /J. - S 

Date I '2.-13-202. "3 
5 



11 

12/13/2023 

Section 1.5 Legislative Body 
(e) 11, addmorr:-t-The mayor. o r in the mayor"s absence or unavailability the vice mayor, may call 

Emen;;iency Meetings of the commission. The most appropriate and effect ive notice under the 

circumstances shall be provided and the method of providinq notice shall be recorded iQ the 

minutes of the meeting. A vote that the meeting 1s an emergency shall be the first order of 

business. The affirmative vote of the majority of the commiss,oners present plus one shall be 

necessar)!:'. to confirm that the meeting is an emergency. Failure to obtain this afflrrnatjve vote 

shall preclude £onductinq further business at the meeting except adjournment. The only 

subjects that rnay be considered at this meeting must relate to the stated emergency An 

affirmative vote of two-thirds(½) of a quorum shall be necessary for all other actions taken at an 

emergenc;y mP.etirs. 

Section 1.5 Legislative Body 

(ef) Prohibitions. Interference with administration. Except for the purpose of 
inquiries and investigations, the commission or its members shall deal with city 
officers and employees who are subject to the direction and supervision of the 
city manager solely through the city manager, and neither the commission nor 
its members shall give orders to any such officer or employee, either publicly 
or privately. 

Exhibit A-G 

Date I Z - I ~ - Z&-s 

12 

6 



12/13/2023 

Meeting 2 Topics 

• City Manager 

• Law Enforcement 

• Public Improvements 

Fire Protection, Trash and Garbage Removal, and Other Municipal Services 

• Validation of Individual Sections 

• City Clerk 

• City Attorney 

13 

Section 1.8 City Manager 

• The city manager shall be chosen on the basis of professional training, executive and 

administrative experience, and other qualifications as determined by the city commission. 

The current city manager at the time of adoption of this amendment may only be removed 

by a four-fifths vote of the full city commission. Upon the retirement, resignation, or removal 

of the current city manager, all subsequent city managers shall be appointed or removed by 

a majority vote of the full city commission for an indefinite term, and may be removed at any 

time by a majority vote of the full commission. Action to remove the city manager shall be 

considered final, and the manager shall have no vested rights in his or her office other than 

those specifically provided in this Charter or by contract. Notwithstanding the action taken by 

the city commission to remove the manager, the city commission shall hold a public hearing 

if so requested in writing by the manager. Such public hearing shall be conducted not less 

than ten (10) days nor more than thirty (30) days following the date of the proposed removal 

of the city manager. 

14 
Exhibit ~-7 
Date f -z - I 3 - 2-0-Z '1 

7 



12/13/2023 

Section 1.8 City Manager, cont. 

• The city manager need not be a resident of the city at the time of 

appointment. Within six months of appointment, the city manager shall reside 

in the city unless the city commission waives this requirement. The manager's 

compensation shall be fixed by the city commission. Such compensation shall 

not be reduced during the manager's tenure except as a part of a general 

salary cutback applicable to all city employees. 

15 

Section 1.8 City Manager, cont. 

The city manager shall be the chief executive officer of the city, responsible to 

the city commission for the management of all city affairs placed in the 

manager's charge by or under the charter. The city manager shall: 

(1) Appoint and suspend or remove all city employees and appointive 

administrative officers provided for, by, or under this Charter, except as 

otherwise provided by law, this Charter, or personnel rules adopted pursuant 

to this Charter. The city manager may authorize any administrative officer 

subject to the manager's direction and supervision to exercise these powers 

with respect to subordinates in that officer's department, office, or agency; 

16 
Exhibit fl -~ 
Date le- (3- 2.0 23 

8 



12/13/2023 

Section 1.8 City Manager, cont. 

(2) Direct and supervise the administration of all departments, offices, and 

agencies of the city, except as otherwise provided by this Charter or by law; 

(3) Assure that a written annual evaluation is conducted on all employees 

subject to the manager's direction and supervision. The manager may 

delegate performance of the evaluations to personnel at the appropriate 

supervisory level; 

(4) Attend all city commission meetings. The city manager shall have the right 

to take part in discussion, but shall not vote; 

17 

Section 1.8 City Manager, cont. 

(5) See that all laws, provisions of this Charter, and acts of the city commission, 

subject to enforcement by the city manager or by officers subject to the 

manager's direction and supervision, are faithfully executed; 

(6) Prepare and submit the annual budget and capital program to the city 

commission and implement the final budget approved by the commission to 

achieve the goals of the city; 

(7) Submit to the city commission and make available to the public a complete 

report on the finances and administrative activities of the city as of the end of 

each fiscal year; 

18 
Exhibit {.l- °r 
Date Iz -r3 - Z◊c3 

9 



12/13/2023 

Section 1.8 City Manager, cont. 

(8) Make such other reports as the city commission may require concerning 

operations; 

(9) Keep the city commission fully advised as to the financial condition and 

future needs of the city; 

(10) Countersign all contracts made on behalf of the city orto which the city is 

a party; 

(11) Countersign all bonds, certificates, or other evidences of indebtedness of 

the city and keep an accurate account thereof; 

19 

Section 1.8 City Manager, cont. 

(12) Make recommendations to the city commission concerning the affairs of 

the city and facilitate the work of the city commission in developing policy; 

(13) Provide staff support services for the mayor and commissioners; 

(14) Assist the commission to develop long term goals for the city and 

strategies to implement these goals; 

(15) Encourage and provide staff support for regional and intergovernmental 

cooperation; 

20 
Exhibit A- f 0 

Date f c..- l 2>- CD&5 
10 



12/13/2023 

Section 1.8 City Manager, cont. 

(16) Promote partnerships among the commission, staff, and citizens in 

developing public policy and building a sense of community; and 

(17) Perform such other duties as are specified in this Charter or may be 

required by the city commission. 

21 

Section 1.8 City Manager, cont. 

Neither the commission nor any of its members shall dictate the appointment 

of any person to office or employment by the city manager or in any manner 

prevent the city manager from exercising his/her own judgment in selecting 

the personnel of his/her administration. 

Acting City Manager. By letter filed with the city clerk, the city manager shall 

designate a city officer or employee to exercise the powers and perform the 

duties of city manager during the manager's temporary absence or disability; 

the city commission may revoke such designation at any time and appoint 

another qualified person to serve until the city manager returns. 

22 
Exhibit 

Date l c,- r ::>- loc_J 
11 



23 

12/13/2023 

Section 1.9 Law Enforcement 

There shall be a chief of police, who shall be appointed by the city commission, 

and there may be such police officers as may from time to time be determined 

by the city commission to be necessary. The police officers shall be appointed 

by the chief of police. Subject to the removal of the chief of police as provided 

in the next paragraph, said chief of police shall serve at the pleasure of the city 

comm1ss1on. 

Section 1.9 Law Enforcement, cont. 

The chief of police shall be chosen on the basis of professional training, executive and 

administrative experience, and other qualifications. The chief of police shall be 

appointed by a vote of four-fifths of the full city commission for an indefinite term, and 

may be removed at any time by four-fifths vote of the full commission, subject to at 

least sixty-days' notice or sixty-days' severance pay. Action by the city commission to 

remove the chief of police shall be considered final, and the chief shall have no vested 

rights in his or her office other than those specifically provided in this Charter. 

Notwithstanding the action taken by the city commission to remove the chief, the city 

commission shall hold a public hearing if so requested in writing by the chief. Such 

public hearing shall be conducted not less than ten (10) days nor more than thirty (30) 

days following the date of the proposed removal of the chief of police. 

:,.:_J(hfblt ~ - ( Z 

Date ( 2 - f ~ ~ 2623 

24 

12 



12/13/2023 

Section 1.9 Law Enforcement, cont. 

The chief of police shall be the head of the law enforcement department. He 

shall attend the meetings of the city commission, and perform such other 

duties as may be required by this Charter, by the laws and ordinances of the 

city or by the city commission. 

The chief of police, and police officers shall receive such compensation as may 

be fixed by the city commission. 

25 

Section 1.10 Public Improvements 

The Legislature of the State of Florida does I ,ereby find and detern line has 

found and determined pursuant to its statutes that the territory defined herein 

as the City of St. Augustine Beach is the principal beach resort of St. Johns 

County and as such affords recreational facilities and opportunities to all the 

citizens of St. Johns County and that the construction, repair and maintenance 

of roads, streets and runways to the ocean beach in said city are county 

purposes and nothing herein contained shall be construed as preventing the 

Board of County Commissioners of St. Johns County from constructing, 

repairing and maintaining roads, streets and runways to the beach within said 

City of St. Augustine Beach. 

26 

exhibit fJ, - I~ 

Oate IZ- 13 - ?C2'1 

13 



27 

12/13/2023 

Section 1.11 Fire Protection, trash and garbage ... 

(a) The city commission is hereby authorized to provide fire protection within 

the City of St. Augustine Beach, either by owning and operating necessary 

equipment with either a volunteer or paid fire department, or to contract with 

another governmental entity by interlocal agreement for service by its fire 

department. 

(b) The city commission is hereby authorized to remove trash and garbage and 

to perform all other city services either through the use of employees or 

contractors. 

Section 1.12 Validation of Individual Sections 

If any section or part of a section of this Municipal Charter is subsequently 

found to be invalid or unconstitutional, the same shall not be held to invalidate 

or impair the validity, force or effect of any other section or part of section, 

unless it appears that such other section or part of section is clearly or 

necessarily dependent for its operation upon the section or part of section 

held to be unconstitutional or invalid. 

Exhibit A- - I L-/ 

Date l'Z-13-Zo?~ 

28 

14 



12/13/2023 

Section 1.13 City Clerk 

The city manager shall appoint an officer of the city who shall have the title city 

clerk. The city clerk shall be the custodian of all city commission records, shall 

give notice of commission meetings to its members and the public, shall keep 

minutes of its proceedings, and perform such other duties as prescribed by 
law, by this Charter, or by direction of the city manager. 

29 

Section 1.14 City Attorney 

There shall be a city attorney appointed by the city commission. The current 

city attorney at the time of adoption of this amendment may only be removed 

by a four-fifths vote of the full city commission. Upon the retirement, 

resignaf ion, or removal of the current c,1y attorney, all subsequent city attorneys 

shall be appointed or removed by a majority vote. The city attorney shall be a 

member of the Florida Bar and shall be appointed and may be removed by a 

majority vote of the full city commission. The attorney shall serve as the chief 

legal adviser to the commission, the city manager, and all city departments, 

offices and agencies; shall represent the city in legal proceedings; and, shall 

perform any other duties prescribed by state law, by this Charter, by ordinance, 

or as otherwise assigned by the city commission. 

30 
~xhlblt P - /S 

Date IZ - [ ~ - ?.oz-:; 
15 



12/13/2023 

Recap 

31 

Next Meeting: December 13, 2023 

TOPICS: 

• Commission Limitations 

• Election procedures 

• Absentee Ballots 

• Commission Offices, Groups, and Terms 

• Runoff Elections 

• Determining Winners; Tie Votes 

• Form of BaIlot 

• Recall of Elected Officials 

32 Exhibit P, _/(j 

Date / 2- I "3i - -z_oZ-3 

16 



33 

12/13/2023 

Thank you 

Exhibit (l - { 7 

Date I c -13- -Z o 23 
17 


	Structure Bookmarks
	St. Augustine Beach 
	Charter Review 
	Public Input 
	Review Open Topics from Meeting 1 
	Section 1.4 Elective Officers 
	Section 1.4 Elective Officers 
	Section 1.5 Legislative Body 
	Section 1.5 Legislative Body 
	Section 1.8 City Manager, cont. 
	Section 1.8 City Manager, cont. 


